

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/rser



Research and development aspects on decentralized electrification options for rural household

A.A. Lahimer*, M.A. Alghoul*, Fadhil Yousif, T.M. Razykov, N. Amin, K. Sopian

Solar Energy Research Institute, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, 43600 Bangi, Malaysia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 19 October 2011 Received in revised form 15 March 2013 Accepted 18 March 2013 Available online 18 April 2013

Rural area
Household
Decentralized electrification
Resources options

ABSTRACT

Low income households living in the rural areas suffer from energy poverty and lack of human and economic development. Currently, many governments of less developed countries are committed in improving access to electricity. The same commitment should be adapted globally as part of human right because providing electricity access to low-income households improves health and education, generates income, increases productivity, reduces inequality, and enhances the quality of life. Rural electrification is a complicated issue because of user affordability, rural inaccessibility and remoteness, low population densities and dispersed households, low project profitability, fiscal deficit, scarcity of energy resources, population growth, lack of professionalism, and over-dependence on subsidies. The demand for electrification cannot be accomplished because of the increasing gap between rural electrification rate and population growth. Therefore, this review aims to study various decentralized household-sized energy technologies available in rural areas, such as battery, diesel generator, pedal generator, pico hydro, photovoltaic (PV) solar home system, and wind. Preference for one of the options depends on energysource availability, economic feasibility, rural economic development, disposal of residues, nature of enduser application, and government programs and policies. Pico hydro is the preferred electricity generation source in most rural households, followed by wind, PV, and diesel generators. This paper concurs that households in rural areas will be able to afford for electricity access if the payment schedule of the electrification cost is extended and interest rates and taxes, if any, are dropped.

© 2013 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction				
	1.1.	Rural area characteristics	315		
	1.2.	Rural electrification	315		
	1.3.	Benefit of rural electrification	315		
	1.4.	Rural electrification challenges	316		
	1.5.	Key factors for the success of electricity generation scheme in rural areas	317		
2.	Electricity demand.				
	2.1.	Drivers of demand.			
	2.2.	Right of access to electricity	317		
	2.3.	Electricity demands of rural households	317		
3.	Obtaining access to electricity among low-income households				
	3.1.	Batteries	317		
	3.2.	Diesel generator.			
		3.2.1. Alternative fuel for diesel-fueled generator			
	3.3.	Pedal generator	319		
	3.4.	Wind	319		
	3.5.	Solar PV	319		
		3.5.1 DV system and energy costs	330		

^{*} Corresponding authors.

E-mail addresses: salsale3@yahoo.com (A.A. Lahimer), dr.alghoul@gmail.com (M.A. Alghoul).

		3.5.2.	Energy cost of SHS	321		
	3.6.	Pico-hy	dro power	321		
4.	Avera	ge daily l	pasic electricity affordable cost for rural households	321		
	Recommendations					
	5.1. Maintenance along the lifespan of the system.					
		5.1.1.	Households own and government follows up	321		
			Households rent and government follows up			
6.						
Refe	References					

1. Introduction

1.1. Rural area characteristics

Most of low income households live in the rural areas [1-5], where the main source of income comes from pastoralism, cattle raising, agriculture [6,7], fishing [8], tourism, or forestry [9]. Rural areas are associated with dispersed and low population density [2,7], high illiteracy rate [7-10], gender inequality [10], lack of access to health care [7,11], infrastructure (roads, markets, information), and clean water supply [11], as well as energy poverty and low level of electrification rate [3,7,12]. According to [13], by 2030, 87% of the people who lack access to electricity live in rural areas and almost all of them live in developing countries. For example, in Africa, 86% of Tanzanians are not connected to the national grid [14], and majority of the population live in rural areas [6]. In Asia, only half of the Nepalese population has access to modern electricity services [3]. [8] found that even in isolated areas, such as an island, the rate of electricity consumption is associated with the level of user income; for instance, business people consume more electricity than fishermen do.

According to the study made by [15] on energy expenditure according to salary in the urban areas in South Africa, low-income households spend approximately 14% of their earnings on their energy needs. This value is approximately 4.6 times more than high-income households spend on energy [15]. People in developed countries consume 10 times more electricity than people in less developed countries do [16] because of the financial gap between people, which has increased exponentially [17]. The rate of energy consumption is related to the household welfare because of the ability to use electricity in different applications. Energy consumption can be a way of distinguishing the low-income from the high-income people [7]. Low-income people rely on traditional energy sources, such as firewood, charcoal, paraffin, and farm residues, to meet their daily energy demands for lighting, cooking, and heating because modern, sustainable energy connection is scarce [1,18,19]. Unfortunately, the people in developing countries bear a huge amount of expenditure on their energy and lighting needs more than people in the developed countries do [20,21]. In addition to the lack of road infrastructure (some only by boat) [7,22-24], access to sustainable modern energy services (connection to the power grid) will remain expensive for people living in rural areas [1,8,25] because of geographical remoteness [3] and dispersion [3,22]. These remote areas are not technologically and economically attractive to the electricity generation and distribution companies [5,8,22,26]. Grid connection seems to be difficult and impossible in some regions [3,26,27], and electrification will not be an option for rural areas in the future [27].

1.2. Rural electrification

Rural electrification is the provision of long term, reliable, and satisfactory electricity service to households in remote, rural communities [25,28,29] via grid or decentralized/centralized, renewable/nonrenewable energy resources supply. Many consider

electrification as a fundamental strategy for poverty alleviation in terms of financial, energy, and sustainable developments to meet the Millennium Development Goals [9,30-32]. Rural electrification started more than a century ago in many developed countries. They have completed their missions a few decades after launching their electrification programs [33]. Some developing countries, such as Nepal, started approximately 40 years ago, yet more than 60% of its population do not have access to electricity [2]. Nepal may not be able to complete its mission because the economic aspect of a country is the key barrier in promoting increased access to electricity in rural areas. However, rural electrification is not only a technical issue but also a multidimensional phenomenon that is affected by several factors, such as politics, economic development, and culture [34]. Moreover, the outstanding problems of the power ministry are hardly uncommon in almost all developing countries [28,35]. Even developed countries are experiencing these problems [28].

1.3. Benefit of rural electrification

The benefits of rural electrification are not exaggerations [12]. These benefits are evident in remote areas [36], and the implications of these benefits can be measured in rural areas [37,38]. Most studies observed the benefits of rural electrification [3,4,7,10,15,22, 28,29,31,34,39–55] or the negative influence of the lack of electrification in rural areas [43].

Electrification can provide multiple benefits to rural areas:

- Poverty reduction in terms of
 - Welfare. The opportunity for income generation is greater as a result of establishing new businesses or improving existing industry productivity.
 - Energy. The energy needed to operate modern electric appliances, such as TV, fan, and rice cooker, is met. Light is brighter and can be utilized all night.
- Health improvement

Diseases resulting from the fumes and gases generated from conventional energy resources will vanish and indoor air quality will improve when electric light replaces traditional light sources.

- Securing environmental sustainability

Emissions from the burning of biomass, diesel, kerosene, and coal through the use of renewable energy resources will be reduced.

- Education improvement

Children will be provided twice as much time to study in the evenings compared with before electrification.

- Migration mitigation

People in rural areas will be encouraged to remain in their homelands and use electricity to improve agricultural productivity, small-scale mining, and revive the tourism industry.

 Inequality reduction in terms of provision of electricity services between rural and urban areas

- Reduction of household expenses
- More free time to enjoy social activities and entertainment because manual work becomes mechanized.
- Acceleration of rural economic development

1.4. Rural electrification challenges

Rural electrification is a complicated issue and cannot be solved overnight [22]. Uniting all efforts of government (planning, implementing, managing, and monitoring), private corporations (incorporation and innovation), and rural households (awareness) is necessary to achieve the desired goal of rural electrification.

The following issues hamper the rural electrification program (REP) [2,3,9,10,25,29,31,45,47,56–62]:

- Affordability is the key parameter to achieve 100% universal access to modern reliable electricity services. If everyone can pay for their electricity demands, then the electrification issue becomes a form of supply and demand. However, some rural people in developing countries live in or below the poverty line, in which the main concern is to secure food to survive and not electricity to communicate or entertain. People in this bracket satisfy their energy demand by exploiting traditional, alternative energy resources for lighting and cooking. However, access to grid or owning/sharing of grid generation system in many cases is postponed or repealed because of low household income in rural areas and because of high connection and generation costs.
- Long distance from nearest grid to the rural areas. Although possible, the grid is not a feasible option when other energy generation resources, particularly renewable energy, are available and abundant.
- Inaccessibility. Connection to the mainland national power is impossible when the transportation cost is expensive and when roads and other infrastructure are insufficient, such as for small, scattered, and isolated islands or forests, hill areas, and deserts. For example, Bhutan has a surplus in electricity generation. Therefore, Bhutan exports about 75% of its total generation capacity to India. However, approximately half of the population of Bhutan do not have access to electricity because of its geography. The geography of Bhutan is hilly and harshly mountainous, which makes the building of roads or other infrastructure challenging. This isolated community should evaluate which available renewable resource is the most cost-effective or whether this community may consider using diesel motors.
- Low population densities and dispersed households. Some communities contain only between 2 and 200 households. This pattern of distribution increases the cost of grid connection and makes this option unaffordable for rural communities and unprofitable for generation and distribution companies. The best generation alternative for the randomly distributed population is the utilization of the individual generation system, solar home system (SHS), which is the only system that can generate electricity everywhere on the planet and even in space. SHS can be installed in each household separately to meet individual electrification demands.
- Reluctance of electric generation and distribution companies.
 Electrification demand in rural villages is typically low. Rural villages require a few watts for fluorescent lamp or for low voltage appliances. Therefore, this low energy consumption among rural villages discourages electric generation and distribution companies to invest in those areas.
- Maintenance responsibility. Determining who is responsible for the maintenance of power generation plays a key role in the

- success of the REP. Follow-up maintenance is the key to the sustainability of the generating system. [60] discovered that one reason for the failure of the model of the Renewable Energy Service Company (RESCO) in Fiji is the lack of identification of responsibilities, in which parties blame each other and no party wants to be responsible for the poor maintenance of the generating systems. The right and practical way to avoid system malfunction is to hire experts from private sectors to take care of the maintenance responsibility under the supervision of the project donor if the generation system is provided to rural households free of charge or the same scenario but end users pay for the hiring of experts.
- Local society perspective. To evaluate and analyze the potential sources of failures of electrification systems based on renewable energy, [50] researched on program proponents and users and investigated on the relationships between technology and society. Their study revealed that the perspective of local society toward new technology is the main cause of the breakdown.
- Fiscal deficit. Although it can sustain food on the tables of families, traditional business in rural areas (agriculture and grazing) does not increase the income of rural households. Therefore, most rural households have income deficiencies. Consequently, they could not afford to own a generation system or pay for the tariff. Many less developed countries also experience income deficiencies as the rural areas do, in which the lack of liquidity generation (limited financial resources) is the key barrier to their rural electrification targets. For instance, more than 40% of the rural households in Bhutan do not have electricity.
- Less developed countries usually seek assistance from developed countries for loans, grants, or donations. Governments in these countries may be excused when they are unable to provide loans to their citizens to enable them to own a generation system or to subsidize their electricity tariff.
- Poverty of renewable resources. Some rural communities may possess renewable energy resources, such as hydro, wind, biomass, geothermal, and solar energy resources. However, these resources may not be economically or technically viable. Therefore, resources need to be reassessed before installation of any generating system. Communities should not rely only on rough assumptions to avoid improper system sizing due to resource overestimation and to prevent system generating deficiencies and financial losses. Poorly assessed electrification projects gives bad reputation and could not be replicated in similar projects in other communities. For example, most early SHSs for REP in Bhutan have failed to meet the intended demand because of the wrong assumption on radiation data. The project proponents assumed the same radiation data for the entire country all year round.
- Population growth. Given that electric energy is the efficient way to light up the rural household and to power other domestic appliances, this feature makes electricity under continuous demand. In many developing countries, although the electrification rate has increased, the demand for electricity cannot be met because of the increasing rural population [63]. Thus, most of the rural households rely on traditional energy resources to compensate for the lack of electricity [9]. However, despite the efforts of developing countries to keep abreast with the population growth, the gap between population growth and rural electrification will remain significantly large in the years to come [64,65].
- Lack of professionalism. Many early off-grid electrification projects have failed in many remote areas [60,66] because of the lack of qualified skilled technicians to install and maintain the electrification system and because of the difficulty in acquiring spare parts [9,22,60].

Over dependence on subsidies. Despite the lack of technical or financial capability, the electrification rate in many developing countries such as Nepal remains low although these countries have huge potentials in renewable resources. Developing countries still rely heavily on traditional energy sources and resent their lack of fossil fuel resources. This review considers scarcity of fossil fuel as a reason for the low rural electrification rates in many developing countries. Other developing countries have done much effort to improve their people's access to electricity, and some developing countries still struggle to achieve 50% of the rural electrification rate. For example, China has achieved the top rank in rural electrification rate almost without heavy reliance on subsidies by utilizing local energy resources, by unifying local and central grids, by obtaining government support, and so on. However, to accomplish their rural electrification mission, developing countries need to learn from other successful REPs and adapt suitable programs or modify their programs to suit their needs to secure the sustainability and success of their REPs. The Bangladeshi government has adapted the rural electrification model of the United States, which is based on community involvement. This model was authorized by the Bangladesh REP to supervise the rural electric cooperatives, known as Palli Bidyut Samity. This strategy explains why Bangladesh REP succeeded in their REP.

1.5. Key factors for the success of electricity generation scheme in rural areas

Factors that have great influence on rural electrification, such as user's involvement and ownership, local manufacture, maintenance and management responsibility, and financial support schemes either through government or international donors, are given more attention in [10,22,23,28,29,66].

2. Electricity demand

The demand for electrification will continue [50] for decades to come in rural areas particularly in less developed countries because hundreds of millions of households lack any form of electricity service [9,22,51,62]. Accordingly, [51] introduced a global model to ensure universal access to electricity for all rural households in less developed countries over the next decades and found that the gap to universal access remains large and that universal access to electricity will not be achieved by 2030 in Latin America, sub-Saharan Africa, and in some parts of Asia. For example, more than half million demands for electricity come from rural households in the Brazilian Amazon [22]. Many electrical demands need to be addressed in other rural areas around the world. According to [16], the world needs to produce 10 times the global electricity consumption to reach universal access to electricity to light up the entire world at 1 kW per person [16]. This finding indicates that the pressure on electricity generation energy resources will continue to increase globally and remain in short supply. The demand-supply gap increase is mainly caused by population growth [9]. [67] forecasted that in the following two decades, the world electricity generation is expected to increase by 84% from 2008 to 2035, which indicates that electricity has the fastest growing demand as an end-use energy worldwide in the midterm run than consumption of liquid fuels, natural gas, or coal in all end-use sectors except transportation.

2.1. Drivers of demand

Many factors affect electricity demand, such as weather, economic growth, social and demographic factors, end-user prices

and subsidies, policy factors, technological development and energy conservation, industry structure, energy intensity, energy savings and demand side management, peak load and seasonal variation, population growth, industrialization, and urbanization [69–71].

2.2. Right of access to electricity

Access to electricity has become part of the basic human rights that needs to be fulfilled and established within the framework of international and national human rights laws [68], thus permitting all low-income households basic access to lighting, information, communication, leisure, and security [22]. This paper argues that 50 kW h of electricity per month should be given to low-income households. In 2003, the South African government introduced free basic electricity to assist low-income households [15] and 1000 kW h as basic annual access to electricity per capita until 2100 [43,69].

2.3. Electricity demands of rural households

The electricity demand in rural areas significantly depends on affordability, which is influenced by income, feasibility, and availability. Electricity demand is also influenced by the amount of electricity generation resources, which are influenced by site characteristics particularly for renewable energy. However, rural households have low electricity demand. For instance, 10 W is considered a light package per household in Kenya [70]. [75] denoted that 50 W per household is sufficient in Kenya. [41] denoted that 75 W is the average daily energy requirement per household and that this amount of energy has a significant positive influence on the lives of people in the rural community. These few watts are more than enough and can provide survival indoor lighting services for remote and inaccessible areas such as the *Humla* communities in Nepal [42].

However, for a community where the grid connection seems to be the only option, tariffs should be set extremely low [71] to assist and enable low-income households in less developed countries to afford the service because grid connection capital costs are still beyond their means [21,29]. This condition signifies that without subsidizing electricity generation, grid connection for low-income households is likely to be unfeasible [29].

3. Obtaining access to electricity among low-income households

Low-income households in remote areas have several options to choose from for generating electricity. Selecting the right technology is important [9]. End users obtain the most cost-effective option that sustains their electricity demand. However, preference for one option over others depends on the following factors: type of energy source available [9,72], rural economic development [25,72], disposal of residues [72], economic feasibility [9,31], nature of the end-use application [9], and government programs and policies [25]. Batteries, diesel generator, pedal generator (PG), pico hydro, photovoltaic (PV) SHS, and wind are the energy sources seen in rural communities.

3.1. Batteries

Currently, technology offers many types of batteries for different applications, such as applications and components in watches, mobile phones, rechargeable lanterns, cars, and huge battery charging stations. Among the energy sources available, the rural population considers batteries as the easiest mode of access to

electricity [21,70]. Low-income households have been using batteries for light loads, such as for lighting their radios and TVs, which were operated for a few hours during the night because of their low electric capacity. Furthermore, batteries can deliver between 5 times and 15 times more brightness than the traditional kerosene lamps can [21]. Considering that the rural community lacks technical capability and has poor economy, the costs of grid extension, diesel generator, and renewable energy resources (e.g., solar and wind (regardless of their huge potential)) have become prohibitive [3]. Although batteries are preferred by rural households because they prefer to pay as they consume, the cost of electricity when using batteries is higher than when using grid or renewable energy technologies.

Dealing with batteries could be dangerous and may cause serious injury in areas where few recycling programs exist, such as in isolated areas. Batteries have high lead and sulfuric acid contents [70]. Sulfuric acid is a toxic and harmful compound that can burn the skin upon contact and can destroy the digestive system if swallowed. This condition is detrimental because injuries caused by batteries are often left unattended and may worsen. Immediate medical attention is difficult in remote rural areas. Batteries may also produce hydrogen gas, which may ignite and explode in the presence of flame or spark.

The following are the advantages and disadvantages of using battery as an option for generating electricity in the rural community [70].

Batteries have some advantages over other energy sources. The main advantages are the following: fast access to electricity, no pre-installation work needed, independent from either site-specific or source availability, suitable for loads used frequently, low capital cost (70 USD), low life-cycle cost (136 USD), and no potential electric shock occurrences due to low voltage (12 V).

The main weaknesses of batteries include the following: too expensive for larger loads or continuous usage, high cost of regular transportation, and expensive recharging fee. A typical recharge fee from a grid-connected recharging station could amount to approximately 0.2 USD to 0.64 USD per recharge [70,73]. Battery misuse may lead to its rapid decline in performance and lifetime. A battery requires more care when regularly used because of its charging and discharging period, as well as its short lifetime of two years, its high annual operation and maintenance costs (33 USD), and its high electricity cost per kW h (4.36 USD).

3.2. Diesel generator

Using diesel-powered generator sets has been the widespread traditional solution to improve the access to electricity among rural households for decades [6,74–78]. Diesel-powered generators sets are mainly preferred because of their low capital cost [23,26,75], simple technology [76], no civil work preparation required, short installation time [23,75], flexibility to meet the low rural household demand from a few hundred watts and above [22,76], and household inaccessibility in which the grid will not be considered [75]. In general, the advantages of using diesel-powered generators are appreciated when considered from these points of view [74,76,79]:

Diesel-powered generators produce alternating current (AC) directly and provide larger amounts of power than other options do in terms of cost per kW. Diesel-powered generators also have lower investment cost per kW compared with hydropower or wind and have fast start-up capability to provide energy any time, thus making them ideal for emergency applications. For example, Ref. [26] studied the economic viability of stand-alone, household-sized renewable energy technologies, namely two solar PV systems of 100 Wp and 130 Wp, 150 w wind generator and 450 w gasoline generator stated that gasoline generator is the lowest

total capital costs among the mentioned renewable options in terms of cash per watt SHS100 w=USD5.9/W, SHS 130 w=USD5.7/W, wind generator150 w=USD1.8/W and gasoline generator 450 w=USD0.8/W, unfortunately its fuel consumption cost and low capacity factor are the main reasons for not providing electricity with cost effectiveness.

Diesel-powered generators are commonly used when the electricity generating site fails to meet the intended demand as a result of seasonal variation of the site or increases in the power demands of end users. Ref. [76] analyzed the field performance of different off-grid generation technologies applied to the electrification of rural area of the province of Juiuv, northwest of Argentina. These technologies include five hydro-diesel hybrid systems that supply electricity to rural community between 80 and more than 300 households. The study found that the hydro turbine, which is one of the hydro-diesel hybrid systems, supplied only 10% of the total power generation. The deficiency is supposed to be from the increasing energy demand, but [76] determined that the weak supply is mainly caused by the yearly variations of water availability. In the same site, the recent increase in the electricity demand compelled the community to install a new diesel-powered generator to meet the new demand. Given that only hydropower is available, repowering the hydro site once developed is impossible. The only fast start-up option to meet the increasing demand is to use a diesel-powered generator [76]. Diesel-powered generators are the most expensive option for generating electricity [22,23,26,46,80]. Diesel-powered generators are avoided and not preferred by rural households or for REPs [28] because these generators have limited load satisfaction and access. In addition, these generators are inapplicable to areas where generated electricity is only needed during the night (6 pm to 10 pm) [7,16,22,26,35,81]. The high tariff charge [35] and high diesel fuel cost also make diesel-fueled generators inapplicable to rural households. An additional cost of up to 50% is added to the market price of fuel for its transportation because of the lack of adequate infrastructure in remote areas. Transportation cost depends on site distance and accessibility [16,22,23,26,46,75,76,79,81-86]. Sometimes users need to invest to store large amounts of fuel for months during rainy seasons [76]. Diesel-fueled generators also have low capacity factor [26], weak productive utilization [87], and short system life spans [46,75]. Given that diesel-powered generators works under the principle of reciprocating internal combustion engine [88], these generators burn fossil fuel to produce torque to generate electricity. Diesel-fueled generators tend to have the highest CO₂ emissions among other power sources because this source burns up fossil fuels to generate electricity. This process accompanied by the emission of greenhouse gas [7,28,31,88] affects the environment negatively and has been given much focus at the global and local levels [23,76,80]. Moreover, diesel-fueled generators are associated with high cost of maintenance and operations [7,28,85] as a result of its moving components. Thus, diesel-fueled generators require skilled technicians and require more regular maintenance and repair than SHS does [31,79]. Maintenance can cause stoppage in electricity services and adds extra costs [37,75]. In addition, high noise is generated [88] as result of the moving parts.

3.2.1. Alternative fuel for diesel-fueled generator

Some researchers found that biofuels, such as landfill gas and straight vegetable oil from Jatropha, could be used as good substitutes to diesel-fueled electricity generation [6,45,87]. For instance, according to [6], the human labor requirements in rural electrification using Jatropha oil and the tariff for using Jatropha oil to generate electricity are several times greater than the tariff provided by the national government. In addition, [6] denoted that

subsidy is the key role for project feasibility. Using biofuels as alternative to diesel has raised other challenges, such as food security and environmental influence [87], even though access to electricity bring many benefits to rural communities [6]. For instance, millions of people in China benefit from REP [29]. On the basis of the number of people who can be involved in the intensive labor of planting, harvesting, and de-hulling Jatropha [6], employing human muscles as prime movers in electricity generation could be the perfect solution for the electrification program in rural areas from the energy generation perspective.

Using fossil fuel to electrify rural areas is a forced choice considering the high cost of fuel and transportation [22]. This option is no longer recommended for low-income rural households [75] and is avoided by many donor organizations, such as the World Bank [79,83]. Such use in rural areas has been limited [28] because it is neither economically nor environmentally friendly in remote areas [89].

However, the only chance of using diesel-fueled generators to generate electricity for rural households is when the site is inaccessible [22], when grid extension is impossible, when sustainable renewable energy resources are not available [75,89], or, in the case of most oil-producing developing countries, when the diesel-powered generator is the first option for the REP [27] even when considerable renewable resources are available. The latter is mainly attributed to the low cost of oil in such countries, where the government usually subsidizes the oil price, uses oil as a back-up for other types of electricity generation, or forms a hybrid configuration with renewable resources for electricity generation [8,82,90–92].

3.3. Pedal generator

PG is the most suitable power source for remote communities, where extremely low-income households usually live and renewable energy sources are neither available nor viable [93]. For instance, PG is the most suitable power source for the villages of Thulo Pokhara and Raje Danda, Nepal because of the following reasons [93,94]: continuous operation (24 h/day) with simple technique; approximately 100 CAD capital cost of lighting a Nepali home; low cost, which can be achieved by cost-sharing (PG can light more than 20 homes simultaneously); safety (only 12 V of electricity); simultaneous charging of multiple batteries; ease of maintenance, repair, and transportation to remote villages; local manufacturing; short-duration energy generation (i.e., around 30 min or less of gentle pedaling for each home).

The following are the main drawbacks of the PG: physical work for recharging; daily recharging (i.e., pedaling) time of around 30 min; risk of children playing with and misusing the PG, which has moving parts that might be attractive to them; incorrect connection to the PG of battery in charging mode, which can damage the system. Furthermore, the storage battery is an essential component. In addition, the battery is replaced every six months [94].

3.4. Wind

Over the last two decades, wind energy has significantly moved forward as a clean, efficient, and cost-effective energy source [7]. Wind energy developers have used the latest advanced technology [50] to improve wind turbine design for maximum harvesting of wind energy and for the optimum performance of wind turbines.

Ref. [95] developed a new wind power technology inspired by aerospace technology. This wind turbine is designed according to the principle of jet engine instead of traditional windmills and is four times more efficient than traditional rotor blade turbines are. Interestingly, an Italian private company introduced a new way of utilizing wind energy by using Kite Gen Stem, which uses flying

kites at high altitudes (2000 m) for optimum harvesting of wind energy, in contrast to traditional wind turbines [96].

Despite the fact that, developer's efforts have facilitated harvesting of wind kinetic energy to generate electricity which accelerated wind market to its large growth, Ref. [97] expected that until the projection period of 2030, wind energy is not able to compete economically with fossil fuels and hydroelectricity.

Such technological developments and idea have failed to make wind turbines affordable for rural households and have failed to make wind turbines become cost-competitive with other renewable energy resources, such as water [97]. The decentralized wind turbine is a less popular technology for single households in rural areas [23.90] because this technology is site-specific [5] and has very high cost of turbine (i.e., about 6903 USD/turbine) [27]. In contrast to solar energy, which can be exploited on almost any surface of the planet [34,98], wind and hydro are both site-specific [5]. Once the site has been developed, substitution is no longer possible. Aside from such similarity, wind and hydro also use turbines to convert kinetic energy into electrical energy and require head for higher energy production. For example, the wind turbine should be constructed on a location with the highest wind resource, usually at high altitudes, to guarantee greater energy utilization. This requirement is similar to that of hydro, which needs high head for higher energy production. Despite the many similarities, a wide gap in cost-effectiveness exists among the options for rural electrification, of which the hydro is the most cost-effective [70,81,89,99-104] and favorable for rural households and is supposed to be checked first [89]. However, the feasibility of using wind turbines is basically dependent on natural variations in wind speed on the site [26]. Using wind turbines for electricity generation are distinguished by a lifespan of up to 20 years in harsh environments, higher cost-effectiveness than PV or than diesel/gasoline generator if locally manufactured, AC production, easy management, low maintenance cost, and option of single household use or community sharing [23,26,97,105-108]. However, small wind turbines also have many shortcomings [23,26,90,97,105-109], which prevent them from being used by rural households. Lack of wind resource and wind variability is the greatest challenge in some less developed countries. High investment cost is another disadvantage, which limits the affordability and dissemination of wind technology in rural areas. The installation cost of small wind turbines of up to 1.0 kW in the United Kingdom is around 2000 GBP to 6000 GBP, whereas the larger systems of 2.5 kW to 6.0 kW cost ranges from 12,000 GBP to 20,000 GBP. Moreover, component fatigue frequently occurs because of cyclic loads caused by variations in wind speed. As wind speed increases, the turbine needs to be shut down to avoid twisting or breaking of the turbine into pieces. If the turbine survives failure or damage, the turbine will suffers from poor performance because of wind speed variation. Given the considerable wind speed variation, the power generated is changed accordingly; thus, storage is crucial. Turbines also need to be positioned at high places, where most wind energy is available to maximize the exploitation of energy and in order to avoid obstructions, such as trees, buildings, and constructions, in the path line of the wind to the turbines. Therefore, turbines can be called outdoor energy exploitation systems, in contrast to hydrosystems, which can be covered (pico) or found in a powerhouse (small/large hydro). Turbines are exposed to thunderstorms, lightning, and corrosion from heavy rainfall, wetness, and high salinity. The rotating blades of wind turbines also kill many birds every year. Moreover, wind turbines are noisy and influence visual amenity.

3.5. Solar PV

Solar energy is the most abundant energy source on earth [106,110]. Solar energy generates other forms of renewable energy

and is an unlimited and clean resource available in the entire planet [34,59]. PV is the fastest growing energy technology in the world for single households in rural areas and is perceived to be moving at a fast pace toward progress and maturity [47,59,110,111]. SHSs are the most popular PV applications, dominating rural generation technology and adopted globally to meet the basic electricity demands of households in rural areas [47,50,88,90,91]. SHSs now serve millions of people in rural areas around the word [112]. Hundreds of thousands of SHSs have been used as modern electricity generators in rural households around the world to replace smokey fuels (e.g., candles, kerosene lamps, and gasoline/diesel-powered generating sets) and interrupted, unreliable grids [88]. According to [113]. estimating the number of SHSs currently in use is difficult. For example, over 400,000 and 200,000 systems have been installed only in rural China and Bangladesh, respectively. In the past decade, 100,000 SHSs have been sold in Kenya [114]. In 1997, between 100,000 and 200,000 SHSs were sold in some developing countries [34]. The government of Bangladesh has installed 500,000 SHSs to respond to the electrification demand resulting from rural population growth [58]. By the end of 2007, approximately 115,000 SHSs were installed in Nepal [115]. By the end of 2010, more than 13,000 (80 Wp mono-crystalline silicon cell PV module) SHSs were installed in 12 provinces in Morocco for its decentralized REP [116]. More than a million SHSs have been installed to electrify rural homes in developing countries [117,118]. Despite its technological benefits, PV systems are not cost-effective energy options for rural electrification because of their high capital cost [46,119-121]. PV systems also cannot compete economically with existing grids [122] or other renewable sources of energy, such as hydro or wind. The key influence in the continuation of this technology is government subsidy, the lack of which could end of the deployment and acquisition of the technology [47,60,115,119]. [115] concluded that solar PV systems cannot compete vet with grid electricity, even if the country has abundant solar energy, such as Nepal, and suggested that as long as urban households can afford access to grid electricity, they should stay connected to the grid and not resort to alternative solar PV systems. [123] compared wind and PV stand-alone power systems used for the electrification for remote consumers and found that wind systems are more preferable over PV systems in locations where both wind and solar energy are abundant. [70] advised communities in isolated areas with no access to grid electricity to explore and exploit their renewable energy resources for their electricity demand in the medium term. This suggestion is sound because renewable energy is the most cost-effective option for rural electrification, followed by grid extensions [80]. These communities should utilize pico hydro wherever suitable sites exist because its cost per kilowatt hour is less than 15% of that of the cheapest SHS [70]. Although the cost of PV has declined [47,70,124], some countries with enormous potential for utilizing solar energy still rely on imported oil with high and unstable prices as a source of energy. These countries do so because PV is still not affordable for rural households [112] because they lack skilled technicians to install and maintain the equipment and have difficulties in acquiring spare parts [9,22] or because fuel is cheaper due to national subsidy. In the absence of pico and wind for low-income households, opportunities to opt for PV arise as long as governments provide subsidy or funds [47,112] and as long as the generator set is connected to incandescent lamps and not to tube lights or compact fluorescent lamps [124].

However, grid extension may not be considered in the near future or is practically impossible in situations where a few watts of electricity demand are used to produce light and operate small home devices in remote areas. In areas where natural resources (hydro and wind) are not available and the other option is not affordable (diesel), battery charging SHSs are the only option left for rural electrification [121,125], provided that financial support is available.

PV systems have many potential benefits. For example, no civil works are required to install the scheme [119]. PV systems are easy to install and run, require less maintenance, and have very low maintenance cost [56,59,88,90,98,107,119,121]. They are portable and light to facilitate transportation to end users in remote locations [59,88,119]. PV systems generate direct current (12 V) [59,106]; thus, electric shock is not produced. PV systems are easy to manage even if owned by more than one household and has a quiet mechanism, with no moving parts that emit irritating noise [56,107]. Moreover, PV systems are associated with a lifespan of up to 25 years [27.56,70,75.88] and are environmental-friendly, with little environmental effect during its functioning lifetime. For every 1 kW h of power generated by the PV, carbon dioxide is reduced by 0.7 kg, which is supposed to be emitted to the air in case any smoldering fuel resources are used [56,59,107]. Most SHSs in rural areas are owned by individuals. Therefore, no load limiters are required in each house to prevent consumers from bypassing their packages. Consequently, conflict among communities can be avoided. Management and staff are not needed for the operation and maintenance of the shared SHS and for tariff collection, respectively [126]. SHS also does not burn fuel that produces emissions, although the greenhouse gas emissions of its transportation and manufacture are part of its total environmental emissions [112]. However, [112] claimed that those minor indirect emissions can be ignored because SHS makes a considerable contribution to climate change mitigation.

Finally, electricity generated by PV mainly depends on the area of the panels, a feature that gives PV more flexibility than other options in responding to future demand [59,76,91]. Thus, PV can be repowered to limit fuel expenses for the diesel generator to meet additional demand [59,76,88,91]. With these advantages together with financial support and the scarcity of other generation alternatives, many rural households have considered PV as an attractive option for electrification [47,88].

However, PV systems also have disadvantages compared with other options. PV systems can be used only where direct current (DC) is available [70,106,127]. Power generation also depends on the intensity and duration of solar radiation [56,59]. As a result, batteries are required for electricity storage to maintain current continuity and supply electricity during the night or when sunlight is insufficient because of physical obstructions [56,90]. These batteries cost about 300 USD/kW h [98] and need regular replacement [121,128]. Despite the high cost and low lifespan of batteries (i.e., three years to five years) [56,106,129], PV systems have huge losses, approximately 40% of which are accounted for by batteries and other components [89,24]. Moreover, PV users deal with chemical hazards that threaten the environment with no proper hazard control [56,106,129]. PV cells also contain cadmium telluride, a toxic heavy metal and carcinogen [107] [35]. Furthermore, PV is a site-oriented system; thus, perfect orientation is not always achievable where environmental and weather obstacles exist, such as trees, mountains, buildings, wind, snow, high temperature, and airborne contaminants, which might shade the modules and impair system performance [59,70,86,107,129]. In contrast to other options, PV needs a large area for electricity generation. For instance, each 1 kW p generated requires approximately 8 m² to 10 m² of roof space [56,107,130]. These large areas require frequent cleaning [107] from dust or bird waste.

These issues have a negative influence on PV system performance, which explains why PV technology is more cost-effective in sunny locations [59,106].

3.5.1. PV system and energy costs

Although PV is the most commonly used technology for electrification in rural areas in many developing countries [47],

many rural households cannot afford PV [25,56] because of its high capital cost [25,46,56,60,70,90,110,131]. The capital cost of PV panels ranges from 4000 USD/kW to 6000 USD/kW [27,56,59, 90,98,110]. For complete PV electrical systems, the costs can reach 100,000 USD/kW [98]. In Morocco, the overall program cost reaches 21 EUR/Wp or 1574 EUR/SHS [116].

3.5.2. Energy cost of SHS

Among renewable energy technologies, PV technology produces the highest cost per watt [60,70,131]. However, the cost of energy generated by decentralized PV ranges from 0.45 USD/kW h to 2.10 USD/kW h and is influenced by many factors, such as transportation, taxes, system efficiency, climate, and season [52,132]. For example, in a 13,000 SHS REP in Morocco, SHSs were provided with a fee of 1.73 USD/kW h [116].

The high PV scheme and energy generation costs are likely to be the main barriers to the widespread use of PV in rural areas in many developing countries [46,56,90].

3.6. Pico-hydro power

Pico hydro is the smallest hydropower plant [94,99,133–136], with a capacity of less than 5 kW [100,133–138]. Pico hydro is known as "family hydro" in some countries because they can be owned by a single household [99,133,136]. The simplicity of pico hydro technology [70] has attracted the attention of many experts and even non-experts interested in generating electricity from renewable resources. Considerable attention has been given to pico hydro technology because it is seen as a cost-effective and promising option for supplying electricity to rural areas [70,81,89,99–104]. The pico hydro scheme is the most cost-effective option among off-grid options (wind, PV, diesel generator,...etc.) for rural electrification whenever a pico hydro site is available [70,81]. The suitability of this technology should be urgently ascertained [89].

The following are the most famous pico hydro turbines for offgrid electrification in rural areas: Pico Power Pack, Peltric turbine, low cost DC pico hydro system, Stream Engine, Turgo turbine, PowerPal, axial and cross-flow turbines, and pumps as turbine.

The design of pico turbines can hardly be modified to improve performance [81] because hydro technology is a rapidly maturing technology [133] and because hydro technology is one of the oldest energy sources known to mankind and the first one used to generate electricity [139] with an efficiency of up to 90% [140].

Schemes on making pico turbines affordable should be made, such as offering long-term funds. Such schemes have been successful among low-income households. [70,134–136,141–144] discussed the factors in the success of hydro pico schemes for rural electrification in less developed countries and employed pico in new applications or usages (e.g., an energy recovery device) [145,146].

Although the main users of this technology are low-income households, multimillion-dollar companies such as Motorola have found PV an attractive and interesting alternative to grid and other renewable options for wireless communication network base stations in remote areas [147]. Ref. [148] discovered an interesting application for pico turbines in utilizing the kinetic energy of the water that flows through domestic pipes and using it for battery recharging.

The main advantages of pico hydro technology are sustainability, low maintenance and scheme cost (about half that of PV) [2,147], sharing [100,133], flexible design, option for local manufacturing, and easy installation, operation, and maintenance [94,135,136]. As an energy-utilizing device [145,146], pico hydro is an environmental-friendly energy resource [149].

Pico hydro technology is similar to other renewable technologies in terms of site availability [2,81,140,150,151]. Pico hydro technology requires more civil work than others, which is likely to increase the total cost of the scheme [70,140]. Despite the maturity and significant improvement of this technology, flow rate fluctuation is still one key challenge faced by hydro power systems in dry season (minimum power production) and monsoons (turbine shutdown to avoid being washed away) [152]. Given that hydroelectricity is mainly based on the head and flow of the site [75], room for upgrading the scheme rarely exists once the turbine is installed. As a result of flow rises and falls, power supply in many hydro sites cannot meet the yearly projected demand [75]. Combining the pico hydro with the hybrid system, which is another power generating source, can satisfy the intended demand and maintain power continuity all year long [75].

Pico hydro has a large potential global market in less developed countries, which is estimated to be around 4 million units [153]. Even in more developed countries such as Japan, considerable interest has been given to this technology because of high tariff and because this technology is considered an individual contribution to lessening climate change [154].

4. Average daily basic electricity affordable cost for rural households

The average cost of electrifying one rural household is about 2000 USD [9,60]. Thus, rural households can afford to pay for access to electricity by lengthening the payment schedule of the electrification cost and dropping the interest rate and taxes if any [1,60]. If the government, World Bank, or other international agencies provide a 20-year (product lifespan) slow and low soft loan payment without interest to offset the high capital costs, then users who cannot afford the full costs of PV will be able to afford access to electricity [8]. On the basis of the average cost of electrifying one rural household, households will pay 0.27 USD daily for basic electricity services, which is less than seven times the daily amount charged (2 USD) to some rural households in Ethiopia for using three 60 W bulbs from a diesel generator for only 3 h a day [35]. This amount is about the same as the annual cost (including that of spare parts over a 20-year service life) in rural Morocco under the 13,000 SHS REP [116] and in Fiji, where the government owns and rents the SHSs to rural households and provides maintenance through a public-private sector partnership [60]. The last model has been replicated in many countries, but in Fiji, the model did not meet the goal of the program because of the failure of sequential governments to implement the RESCO program originally proposed by donors. Despite its problems, the RESCO model in Fiji seems to be more applicable where electricity is affordable, given that the user pays less monthly and the government owns and rents the SHS and assures maintenance through a private sector under their supervision.

5. Recommendations

5.1. Maintenance along the lifespan of the system

Despite the maintenance cost, which in some generating systems such as the SHS is equivalent to the installation cost [116], the sponsor should provide long-term maintenance to prevent system malfunction and breakdown and user misuse, to sustain scheme operation, and to encourage rural households to take care of their systems.

5.1.1. Households own and government follows up

One option is households owning the electric generation system by paying with their own money or with financial support (e.g., subsidy, loan, and grant) from the government or international donors. The government should provide maintenance of the system. In this scenario, the cost of warranty (if any) should be replaced by term regular check and maintenance to build a strong bond between renewable energy technologies and end users and disseminate such technologies in other remote areas. Follow-up for regular check and maintenance should be held quarterly. Maintenance could be run by government institutions or authorized agents. This suggestion is expected to work in rural India because rural electrification is the responsibility of the Ministry of New and Renewable Energy.

5.1.2. Households rent and government follows up

When the electric generation system is far beyond what rural households can afford and when the economy is weak, the government should own the system or rent it from investors with tariff subsidy to provide rural people with access to electricity or mandate investors to rent the system directly to rural households with the same above conditions. This suggestion seems to be preferable for most rural areas in developing countries, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa and some parts of Asia.

6. Conclusion

Rural areas suffer from energy poverty and lack of human and economic development. Renewable energy, such as pico hydropower, solar PV, and wind turbines, is the most promising option for feasible, sustainable decentralized rural electrification generation systems, particularly in rural areas with massive renewable energy resources. This option should be considered because of the high cost of grid electricity and transportation cost of fossil fuel to remote areas (along with increased fuel market prices), as well as the environmental concern about the exhaust of burning fossil fuel. Provision of affordable electricity to remote households is an essential aspect of human and economic development in rural areas worldwide and an obligation of governments toward their citizens. For many developing countries, this obligation is a huge challenge because of their weak economy, which is a key barrier to rural electrification. Thus, developed countries should not be perplexed in assisting less developed countries in their renewable resource-based because low-income households in these countries need merely a few watts for their daily energy demand. According to the availability of electricity generation resources in rural areas and to the selection criteria of feasibility and sustainability, pico hydro is the top choice of rural households, followed by wind, PV, and diesel-fueled generators. Although pico is the most costeffective option, PV is the most dominant renewable energy technology for rural electrification because of the availability of solar energy resource all over the world.

References

- Abdullah S, Markandya A. Rural electrification programmes in Kenya: policy conclusions from a valuation study. Energy for Sustainable Development 2012;16(1):103-10.
- [2] Mainali B, Silveira S. Financing off-grid rural electrification: country case Nepal. Energy 2011;36(4):2194–201.
- [3] Gurung A, Gurung OP, Oh SE. The potential of a renewable energy technology for rural electrification in Nepal: a case study from Tangting. Renewable Energy 2011;36(11):3203–10.
- [4] Ilskog E. Indicators for assessment of rural electrification—an approach for the comparison of apples and pears. Energy Policy 2008;36(7):2665–73.
- [5] Camblong H, et al. Micro-grids project, Part 1: Analysis of rural electrification with high content of renewable energy sources in Senegal. Renewable Energy 2009;34(10):2141–50.
- [6] Grimsby LK, Aune JB, Johnsen FH. Human energy requirements in Jatropha oil production for rural electrification in Tanzania. Energy for Sustainable Development 2012;16(3):297–302.

- [7] Javadi FS, et al. Global policy of rural electrification. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2013;19(0):402–16.
- [8] Hong GW, Abe N. Sustainability assessment of renewable energy projects for off-grid rural electrification: the Pangan-an Island case in the Philippines. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2012;16(1):54–64.
- [9] Dorji T, Urmee T, Jennings P. Options for off-grid electrification in the Kingdom of Bhutan. Renewable Energy 2012;45(0):51–8.
- [10] Millinger M, Mårlind T, Ahlgren EO. Evaluation of Indian rural solar electrification: a case study in Chhattisgarh. Energy for Sustainable Development 2012;16(4):486–92.
- [11] Holland R, et al. Decentralised rural electrification: the critical success factors experience of Itdg. In: Sayigh AAM, editor. World renewable energy congress VI. Oxford: Pergamon; 2000. p. 1639–44.
- [12] Ahlborg, H, L Hammar. Drivers and barriers to rural electrification in Tanzania and Mozambique—Grid-extension, off-grid, and renewable energy technologies. Renewable Energy, (0).
- [13] (IEA) International Energy Agency. Word energy outlook 2010, executive summary; 2010.
- [14] OECD/IEA. Energy for all: financing access for the poor. International Energy Agency: Paris; 2011.
- [15] Visagie E. The supply of clean energy services to the urban and peri-urban poor in South Africa. Energy for Sustainable Development 2008;12(4):14–21.
- [16] SM.Sinha. Private participation & state policies' in developing small hydro as alternate source of energy in developing countries. In: International Conference on Small Hydropower—Hydro Sri Lanka; 2007.
- [17] UN, N.C. Income gap between rich and poor is huge and growing; 2008 [2-12-09]. Available from: (http://www.un.org/apps/news/story.asp?NewsID=28590&Cr=INCOME&Cr1=ILO).
- [18] Gaunt CT. Meeting electrification's social objectives in South Africa, and implications for developing countries. Energy Policy 2005;33(10):1309–17.
- [19] Daka KR, Ballet J. Children's education and home electrification: a case study in northwestern Madagascar. Energy Policy 2011;39(5):2866–74.
- [20] UN. U.N. In: The international conference on population and development, ICPD. Cairo: Egypt; 1994.
- [21] REEEP. R.E.a.E.E.P., 50 ways to eliminate kerosene lighting; 2009.
- [22] van Els RH, Vianna JN de Souza, Brasil Jr ACP. The Brazilian experience of rural electrification in the Amazon with decentralized generation—the need to change the paradigm from electrification to development. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2012;16(3):1450–61.
- [23] Leary J, While A, Howell R. Locally manufactured wind power technology for sustainable rural electrification. Energy Policy 2012;43(0):173–83.
- [24] Pinheiro G, et al. Rural electrification for isolated consumers: sustainable management model based on residue biomass. Energy Policy 2011;39(10): 6211–9.
- [25] Mainali B, Silveira S. Renewable energy markets in rural electrification: country case Nepal. Energy for Sustainable Development 2012;16(2):168–78.
- [26] Nguyen KQ. Alternatives to grid extension for rural electrification: decentralized renewable energy technologies in Vietnam. Energy Policy 2007;35 (4):2579–89.
- [27] Saheb-Koussa D, et al. Hybrid options analysis for power systems for rural electrification in Algeria. Energy Procedia 2011;6(0):750–8.
- [28] Yadoo A, Gormally A, Cruickshank H. Low-carbon off-grid electrification for rural areas in the United Kingdom: lessons from the developing world. Energy Policy 2011;39(10):6400-7.
- [29] Zhang X, Kumar A. Evaluating renewable energy-based rural electrification program in western China: emerging problems and possible scenarios. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2011;15(1):773–9.
- [30] Obermaier M, et al. An assessment of electricity and income distributional trends following rural electrification in poor northeast Brazil. Energy Policy 2012;49(0):531–40.
- [31] Al-Soud MS, Hrayshat ES. Rural photovoltaic electrification program in Jordan. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2004;8(6):593–8.
- [32] Vijay Modi, et al. Energy services for the millennium development goals; 2006. Millennium Project, United Nations Development Programme, World Bank, Energy Sector Management Assistance Programme: New York.
- [33] Morton Jr DL. Reviewing the history of electric power and electrification. Endeavour 2002;26(2):60-3.
- [34] Gabler H. Autonomous power supply with photovoltaics: photovoltaics for rural electrification—reality and vision. Renewable Energy 1998;15(1–4):512–8.
- [35] Teferra M. Power sector reforms in Ethiopia: options for promoting local investments in rural electrification. Energy Policy 2002;30(11–12):967–75.
- [36] Lhendup T. Rural electrification in Bhutan and a methodology for evaluation of distributed generation system as an alternative option for rural electrification. Energy for Sustainable Development 2008;12(3):13–24.
- [37] Chakrabarti S, Chakrabarti S. Rural electrification programme with solar energy in remote region–a case study in an island. Energy Policy 2002;30 (1):33–42.
- [38] (IEG) World Bank Independent Evaluation Group. The welfare impact of rural electrification: a reassessment of the costs and benefits. Washington, DC; 2008.
- [39] Kirubi C, et al. Community-based electric micro-grids can contribute to rural development: evidence from Kenya. World Development 2009;37(7):1208–21.
- [40] Nouni MR, Mullick SC, Kandpal TC. Providing electricity access to remote areas in India: an approach towards identifying potential areas for decentralized electricity supply. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2008;12(5): 1187–220.

- [41] Williams, A, S Porter. Comparison of hydropower options for developing countries with regard to the environmental, social and economic aspects. In: Proceedings of the international conference on renewable energy for developing countries; 2006. Nottingham Trent University/Metronet Rail, UK.
- [42] Zahnd A, Kimber HM. Benefits from a renewable energy village electrification system. Renewable Energy 2009;34(2):362-8.
- [43] Pereira MG, Freitas MAV, da Silva NF. Rural electrification and energy poverty: empirical evidences from Brazil. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2010;14(4):1229-40.
- [44] IEA. I.E.A., World energy outlook 2006. Paris; 2007.
- [45] Haanyika CM. Rural electrification in Zambia: a policy and institutional analysis. Energy Policy 2008;36(3):1044-58.
- Chakrabarti S, Chakrabarti S. Rural electrification programme with solar energy in remote region-a case study in an island. Energy Policy 2002;30
- [47] Chaurey A, Kandpal TC. Assessment and evaluation of PV based decentralized rural electrification: an overview. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2010;14(8):2266-78.
- [48] Cherni JA, Preston F. Rural electrification under liberal reforms: the case of Peru. Journal of Cleaner Production 2007;15(2):143-52.
- Oda H, Tsujita Y. The determinants of rural electrification: the case of Bihar, India. Energy Policy 2011;39(6):3086-95.
- [50] García VG, Bartolomé MM. Rural electrification systems based on renewable energy: the social dimensions of an innovative technology. Technology in Society 2010;32(4):303-11.
- van Ruijven BJ, Schers J, van Vuuren DP. Model-based scenarios for rural electrification in developing countries. Energy 2012;38(1):386-97.
- [52] Ilskog E, Kjellström B. And then they lived sustainably ever after?—Assessment of rural electrification cases by means of indicators Energy Policy 2008;36(7):2674-84.
- [53] Gustavsson M. Educational benefits from solar technology-Access to solar electric services and changes in children's study routines, experiences from eastern province Zambia, Energy Policy 2007;35(2):1292-9.
- [54] Mahapatra S, Chanakya HN, Dasappa S. Evaluation of various energy devices for domestic lighting in India: technology, economics and CO2 emissions. Energy for Sustainable Development 2009;13(4):271-9.
- Andrade CS, Rosa LP, da Silva NF. Generation of electric energy in isolated rural communities in the Amazon region a proposal for the autonomy and sustainability of the local populations. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2011;15(1):493-503.
- [56] Raman P, et al. Opportunities and challenges in setting up solar photo voltaic based micro grids for electrification in rural areas of India. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2012;16(5):3320-5.
- [57] Mulder P, Tembe J. Rural electrification in an imperfect world: a case study from Mozambique. Energy Policy 2008;36(8):2785–94.
 [58] Barnes DF, Khandker SR, Samad HA. Energy poverty in rural Bangladesh.
- Energy Policy 2011;39(2):894-904.
- [59] Kamalapur GD, Udaykumar RY, Rural electrification in India and feasibility of photovoltaic solar home systems. International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems 2011:33(3):594-9.
- [60] Dornan M. Solar-based rural electrification policy design: the Renewable Energy Service Company (RESCO) model in Fiji. Renewable Energy 2011;36 (2).797-803
- [61] Bhattacharyya SC, Ohiare S. The Chinese electricity access model for rural electrification: approach, experience and lessons for others. Energy Policy 2012:49(0):676-87.
- Taniguchi M, Kaneko S. Operational performance of the Bangladesh rural electrification program and its determinants with a focus on political interference. Energy Policy 2009;37(6):2433-9.
- [63] (IEA). I.E.A., World energy outlook 2006. Paris, France: November; 2006. p. 567. [64] WEC, W.E.C. Energy for tomorrow's world—acting now; 2000.
- [65] Barnes, DF, RVD Plas, W Floor. Tackling the rural energy problem in developing countries, in finance and development. In: International monetary fund Washington, DC; 1997. pp11-pp15.
- Lahimer AA, et al. Research and development aspects of pico-hydro power. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2012;16(8):5861-78.
- [67] DOE/EIA. International energy outlook 2011. . Washington, DC; 2011. p. 292.
- Tully S. The human right to access electricity. The Electricity Journal 2006;19 (3):30-9.
- (WBGU) German Advisory Councilon Global Change, World in transition, towards sustainable energy systems. UK and USA: Earthscan. London and Sterling, VA; 2004.
- Maher P, Smith NPA, Williams AA. Assessment of pico hydro as an option for off-grid electrification in Kenya. Renewable Energy 2003;28(9):1357-69.
- [71] Barnes, D, G Foley. Rural electrification in developing world: a summary of lessons from successful program; December 2004. Joint UNDP/World Bank Energy Sector Management Assistance Programme (ESMAP) Working Paper, World Bank: Washington DC.
- [72] Pinheiro G, et al. Sustainable management model for rural electrification: case study based on biomass solid waste considering the Brazilian regulation policy. Renewable Energy 2012;37(1):379-86.
- Otaki K. Vietnam village hydro-a strategic rural development model. Renewable Energy for Development 2003;16(1):1-3.
- [74] IEA. I.E.A., distributed generation in liberalised electricity markets. 2002: 75739 Paris Cedex 15 (61 02 24 1P1) isbn:92-64-19802-4; 2002.

- [75] Kenfack J, et al. Microhydro-PV-hybrid system: sizing a small hydro-PVhybrid system for rural electrification in developing countries. Renewable Energy 2009;34(10):2259-63.
- [76] Díaz P, et al. FAR from the grid: a rural electrification field study. Renewable Energy 2010;35(12):2829-34.
- [77] Akash BA, Mohsen MS. Energy analysis of Jordan's rural residential sector. Energy Conversion and Management 1999;40(12):1251-8.
- [78] Tamimi A. Analysis of energy consumption in Jordan. Energy Conversion and Management 1995;36(11):1063-5.
- [79] WorldBank. Designing sustainable off-grid rural electrification projects: principles and practices. Washington, DC; 2008.
- [80] Urban F, Benders RMJ, Moll HC. Energy for rural India. Applied Energy 2009;86(Supplement 1):S47-57.
- Williams AA, Simpson R. Pico hydro-reducing technical risks for rural electrification. Renewable Energy 2009;34(8):1986-91.
- [82] Schmid AsL, Hoffmann CAA. Replacing diesel by solar in the Amazon: shortterm economic feasibility of PV-diesel hybrid systems. Energy Policy 2004;32(7):881-98.
- [83] Refocus. When small is beautiful: boom time for small hydro? Refocus 2002;3(4):46-8.
- [84] Louy Q, Dieter S. Photovoltaic systems: a cost competitive option to supply energy to off-grid agricultural communities in arid regions. Applied Energy 2010:87(2):427-35.
- [85] Ellegård A, Gustavsson M, Nordström M. Solar Service is Rural Infrastructure. Renewable Energy for Development 2003;16(1):1-8.
- [86] Muhida R, et al. The 10 years operation of a PV-micro-hydro hybrid system in Taratak, Indonesia. Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells 2001;67(1-4): 621-7.
- Bouffaron P, Castagno F, Herold S. Straight vegetable oil from Jatropha curcas L. for rural electrification in Mali—a techno-economic assessment. Biomass and Bioenergy 2012;37(0):298-308.
- [88] Huacuzl JM, Gunaratne L. Handbook of photovoltaic science and engineering 2nd ed. H.S. photovoltaics and development. In: Luque A, editor. Handbook of photovoltaic, science and engineering.... John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.; 2003. p. 1078-105 Chichester: Wiley; 2011.
- [89] Kumar A, et al. Approach for standardization of off-grid electrification projects. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2009;13(8):1946–56.
- Phuangpornpitak N, Kumar S. PV hybrid systems for rural electrification in Thailand. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2007;11(7):1530–43.
- [91] Díaz P, et al. Field analysis of solar PV-based collective systems for rural electrification. Energy 2011;36(5):2509-16.
- [92] Muñoz J, Narvarte L, Lorenzo E. Experience with PV-diesel hybrid village power systems in Southern Morocco. Progress in Photovoltaics: Research and Applications 2007;15(6):529-39.
- Irvine-Halliday D. et al. Light up the world—Nepal Light Project and Everest. IEEE Canadian Review 2000;36:14-8.
- [94] Bhusal P, et al. Energy efficient innovative lighting and energy supply solutions in developing countries. International Review of Electrical Engineering (I.R.E.E.) 2007;2(5):665670.
- [95] FloDesignWindTurbine; 2010 [20-02-2010]. Available from: \http://flodesign windturbine.org).
- [96] Kite Gen Research, S.r.l.; 2007 [20-02-2010]. Available from: (http://www. kitegen com
- [97] DOE/EIA. International energy outlook 2009. Washington, DC; 2009.
- Rinalde GF, et al. Development of thermoelectric generators for electrification of isolated rural homes. International Journal of Hydrogen Energy 2010;35(11):5818-22.
- [99] Howey, DA. Axial flux permanent magnet generators for pico-hydropower. In: EWB-UK research conference 2009. Engineers Without Borders UK Royal Academy of Engineering; 2009.
- Williams AA, et al. Low head pico hydropower: a review of available turbine technologies. In: Savigh AAM, editor, world renewable energy congress VI. Oxford: Pergamon; 2000. p. 1475-80.
- Waltham, M.e.a.. Low head micro hydro potential: final report to ODA under TDR contract R6482. Intermediate Technology Group, Rugby, UK; 1996.
- Simpson, RG, AA Williams. Application of computational fluid dynamics to the design of pico propeller turbines. In: Proceedings of the international conference on renewable energy for developing countries; 2006.
- Dhanapala K, Wijayatunga P. Economic and environmental impact of microhydro- and biomass-based electricity generation in the Sri Lanka tea plantation sector. Energy for Sustainable Development 2002;6(1):47-55.
- [104] WorldBank. Technical and economic assessment of off-grid, mini-grid and grid electrification technologies-summary report; 2006. World Bank Energy Unit, September 2006.
- [105] Alternative energy; 2010 [20-02-2010]. Available from: http://www.alternative-energy-news.info.
- [106] IEA/REEEP. Renewable energy services for developing countries; 2008. International energy agency & renewable energy and energy efficiency partnership. p. 1-33.
- [107 Watkiss, P, et al. Decentralised generation, independent analysis of the potential role of small scale distributed generation.
- DECC/EnergySavingTrust. Low carbon building programme (LCBP); 2009 [20-01-2010]. Available from: (http://www.lowcarbonbuildings.org.uk).
- AWEA, AWEA. Wind energy fact sheets, "Wind Energy and Wildlife"; 2009 [23-02-2010]. Available from: http://www.awea.org/pubs/factsheets/Wind Energy_and_Wildlife_Mar09.pdf>.

- [110] (WEC) World Energy Council. Survey of energy resources. Elsevier; 2004.
- [111] Sopian K, et al. Optimal operational strategy for hybrid renewable energy system using genetic algorithms. Wseas Transactions On Mathematics 2008:7(4).
- [112] Posorski R, Bussmann M, Menke C. Does the use of solar home systems (SHS) contribute to climate protection? Renewable Energy 2003;28(7):1061–80.
- [113] Wheldon, A. Solar home systems and solar lanterns; 2013. Ashden.
- [114] Jacobson A, et al. Field performance measurements of amorphous silicon photovoltaic modules in Kenya.The American solar energy society (ASES). Wisconsin, USA: Madison; 2000 JUNE 16–21, 2000.
- [115] Bhandari R, Stadler I. Electrification using solar photovoltaic systems in Nepal. Applied Energy 2009.
- [116] Carrasco LM, Narvarte L, Lorenzo E. Operational costs of A 13,000 solar home systems rural electrification programme. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2013;20(0):1–7.
- [117] FDJ Nieuwenhout, et al. Monitoring and evaluation of solar home systems, Experiences with applications of solar PV for households in developing countries; 2000.
- [118] Martinot, E, R Ramankutty, F Rittner. The GEF solar PV portfolio: emerging experience and lessons, monitoring and evaluation working paper 2; 2000.
- [119] Lemaire X. Fee-for-service companies for rural electrification with photo-voltaic systems: the case of Zambia. Energy for Sustainable Development 2009;13(1):18–23.
- [120] Hwang İ-h. Application of photovoltaic systems for rural electrification at remote Islands. Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells 1997;47(1-4):295–302.
- [121] IE4Sahel. Intelligent Energy Project. In: IE4SAHEL, energy for poverty alleviation in sahel. Lisbon; 2006. p. 1–8.
- [122] Stutenbäumer U, Negash T, Abdi A. Performance of small-scale photovoltaic systems and their potential for rural electrification in Ethiopia. Renewable Energy 1999;18(1):35–48.
- [123] Kaldellis JK, Kavadias KA, Koronakis PS. Comparing wind and photovoltaic stand-alone power systems used for the electrification of remote consumers. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2007;11(1):57–77.
- [124] Gullberg M, et al. Village electrification technologies—an evaluation of photovoltaic cells and compact fluorescent lamps and their applicability in rural villages based on a Tanzanian case study. Energy Policy 2005;33 (10):1287–98.
- [125] SELF, SELF. Solar home systems role; 2007 [25-02-2010]. Available from: \(\hat{http://www.self.org/shs_role.asp}\).
- [126] ESMAP. Mini-grid design manual; 2000. p. 156–162.
- [127] Chaurey A, Kandpal TC. A techno-economic comparison of rural electrification based on solar home systems and PV microgrids. Energy Policy 2010;38 (6):3118–29.
- [128] Laufer D, Schäfer M. The implementation of Solar Home Systems as a poverty reduction strategy—a case study in Sri Lanka. Energy for Sustainable Development 2011;15(3):330–6.
- [129] Glasnovic Z, Margeta J. The features of sustainable solar hydroelectric power plant. Renewable Energy 2009;34(7):1742–51
- [130] The Green Home Company. Solar PV (solar electricity); 2009 [20-01-2010]. Available from: http://www.thegreenhomecompany.com/solar-electricity.asp).
- [131] EST. E.S.T., Econnect, and element energy, potential for microgeneration study and analysis; 2005.

- [132] Nouni MR, Mullick SC, Kandpal TC. Photovoltaic projects for decentralized power supply in India: a financial evaluation. Energy Policy 2006;34 (18):3727–38.
- [133] Green, J, et al. Stimulating the picohydropower market for low-income households in Ecuador. Energy Sector Management Assistance Program (ESMAP): Washington, DC; 2005.
- [134] Williams, A. Pico hydro for cost-effective lighting boiling point no. 53; 2007. pp 14-16.
- [135] Maher P, Smith N. Pico hydro for village power—a practical manual for schemes up to 5 W in hilly areas. Micro Hydro Centre—Nottingham Trent University; 2001.
- [136] Paish, O, J Green. The pico hydro market in Vietnam. 2003, IT Power. 1-3.
- [137] Taylor, S. Bundling family-hydro under the CDM in Vietnam and The Philippines; 2004. Available from: (http://www.inshp.org).
- [138] ESHA, ESHA and IT Power. Small hydropower for developing countries.
- [139] IEA Hydro; 2005 [25-06-2010]. Available from: (http://www.ieahydro.org).
- [140] BHA, T.B.H.A., A guide to UK mini-hydro developments; 2005.
- [141] Taylor, SDB, et al. Stimulating the market for pico-hydro in Ecuador, IT Power,
- [142] Maher P. Community pico hydro in sub-saharan Africa. Case Study 2002:1:1–3/8.
- [143] Shrestha B, Smith N. Lessons from project implementation and 20 months of operation. Nepal Case Study—Part 3, in pico hydro 2001:1.
- [144] Smith NPA, Maher P, Williams AA. Strategies for sustainable and costeffective village electrification using pico hydro power. In: Sayigh AAM, editor. World renewable energy congress VI. Oxford: Pergamon; 2000 1490-5.
- [145] Pelikan B, Papetti L, Laguna M. Keeping it clean-Environmental integration of small hydropower. Renewable Energy World 2006:pp 74–79.
- [146] Singh P, Nestmann F. Experimental optimization of a free vortex propeller runner for micro hydro application. Experimental Thermal and Fluid Science 2009;33(6):991–1002.
- [147] Motorola. Inc; (2007). Alternatives for powering telecommunications base stations. 6.
- [148] Zainuddin H, et al. Design and development of pico-hydro generation system for energy storage using consuming water distributed to houses. World Academy of Science, Engineering and Technology 2009;59:154–9.
- [149] Howey DA, Pullen KR. Hydraulic air pumps for low-head hydropower. Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part A: Journal of Power and Energy 2009;223(2):115–25.
- [150] Paish O. Small hydro power: technology and current status. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2002;6(6):537–56.
- [151] UNEP. U.N.E.P.D.o.T., Industry, and Economics, Energy Technology Factsheet: small scale hydro (SSH).
- [152] Palit D, Chaurey A. Off-grid rural electrification experiences from South Asia: status and best practices. Energy for Sustainable Development 2011;15 (3):266-76.
- [153] Green, J, S Taylor. CDM pilot project to stimulate the market for family hydro for low income households; 2003. IT Power Ltd.
- [154] Herath, S. Small hydropower development in the context of climate change. In: International conference on small hydropower. Sri Lanka; 2007. p. 1–6.